
1

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA

MIDDLE DIVISION

 )
 )

ROBERT H. HEPTINSTALL, et al. )
)

Plaintiffs, )
) CIVIL ACTION NO.

v. )
) CV-06- P-1564-M

MONSANTO COMPANY,  )
INC., et. al. )

)
Defendants. )

)

MOVANTS’ INITIAL SUBMISSION IN RESPONSE TO EXHIBIT B OF

THE COURT’S ORDER (PLAINTIFFS’ BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION

FOR CLASS CERTIFICATION)

Plaintiffs, Robert H. Heptinstall (“Bob Heptinstall”), Wendell E. Sims (“Wendell

Sims”), and James L. Collins (“Larry Collins”) collectively (“plaintiffs”), bring this

action pursuant to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended,

29 U.S.C. §§ 1001 et. seq. (“ERISA”).  Plaintiffs’ claims arose as a result of defendants

alleged violation of several provisions of ERISA, including § 204(g), § 510, and § 404. 

Plaintiffs, individually and as representatives for other similarly situated participants and

the Monsanto Company Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan (the Plan), seek appropriate

equitable and remedial relief pursuant to ERISA § 502(a)(3) and in their representative

capacity pursuant to § 502(a)(2) and § 409 for the defendants’ breach of fiduciary duty

under § 404.  The Plan is sponsored, maintained and administered by the defendants,

Monsanto Company, Inc., (“Monsanto”), Pharmacia Corp. (“Pharmacia”), the Monsanto

FILED 
 2006 Oct-25  PM 05:44
U.S. DISTRICT COURT

N.D. OF ALABAMA

Case 4:06-cv-01564-RDP     Document 20     Filed 10/25/2006     Page 1 of 25




1 When the North Alabama facility was shut down in February 1981 it was no longer
producing nylon.
2 Almost every employee at the Sand Mountain plant was considered salaried and a
participant in the Plan.  Salaried employees that received overtime pursuant to the Fair
Labor Standards Act “FLSA” were termed non-exempts employees, while salaried
management level employees not subject to FLSA were considered exempt employees.
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Company Employee Benefits Executive Committee (“Executive Committee”), and the

Employee Benefits Plan Committee (“Committee”), collectively (“defendants”). 

Plaintiffs, other similarly situated plan participants, and the Plan have been injured by the

defendants’ violations of several provisions of ERISA.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Parties  

 In early 1972, Monsanto opened the Sand Mountain plant located on the

Tennessee River near Guntersville, Alabama, for the purpose of manufacturing nylon and

polyester yarn for market.1  In 1971 Monsanto maintained a defined pension plan for its

employees, the Monsanto Company Salaried Employes’ Pension Plan (“1971 Plan”). 

Plaintiffs are all former salaried employees of the Sand Mountain plant and participants

of the Plan.2  Plaintiffs all began their employment with Monsanto in August 1972

shortly after the plant opened and worked continuously until Monsanto closed the plant

in early 1981.  Plaintiffs are adequate representatives for all similarly situated

participants and the Plan.  

Amendment of the Plan

Under the 1971 Plan a participant was entitled to a retirement benefit if he or she

had a minimum of ten years of credited continuous service from the first day of

employment until the last.  In 1976, Monsanto amended, restated and continued the 1971
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Plan as the Monsanto Company Salaried Employes’ Pension Plan (“1976 Plan”), the first

ERISA plan.  

The 1976 Plan incorporated the concept of a “Plan Year” as a calendar year. 

Under the 1976 Plan participants for the first time accrued credited service for vesting

purposes, “Vesting Service,” based on the number of “Hours of Service” he/she

completed in a Plan Year.  Vesting Service under the 1976 Plan equals the total of years

of service and fractional years of service.  According to the Summary Plan Document

(“SPD”), “YOUR BENEFITS-Monsanto” distributed to participants starting January 1,

1976, a participant under the 1976 Plan would be credited with one year of Vesting

Service for each Plan Year during which he/she completed at least 1,000 Hours of

Service with Monsanto.  An Hour of Service is defined under the 1976 Plan as an hour

for which an employee is directly or indirectly compensated by the employer for the

performance of his/her job duties.  Furthermore, to the extent that Hours of Service are

not otherwise treated as Hours of Service, an Hour of Service includes: overtime clock

hours; hours of service required to be taken into account to satisfy federal military

service laws . . . ; hours of absence from active work because of regular paid vacations or

holidays; hours of absence from active work because of occupational or non-occupational

illness or disability . . . or layoff. (emphasis added).  The SPD states that calendar years

before 1976 would be credited as described above – or on the basis of Credited Service as

determined under prior Company pension plans—“whichever is more favorable to

you.” (emphasis added).  The 1976 Plan was finalized in July 1979.  

In September 1979, defendants considered a recommendation proposed by the

plan sponsor to change the method of calculating Hours of Service for technical and
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3 Shift workers, production level employees except for supervisors, were all considered to
be non-exempt salaried employees subject to FLSA’s overtime requirements. In other
words, plaintiffs and other non-exempts were paid on a salaried basis for their regular
work schedule plus they received overtime pay as non-exempts for overtime. 
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clerical employees, employees most likely to have overtime.  Instead of crediting these

employees with overtime that was built into their regular work schedules, as in the past,

the plan sponsor wished to award clerical and technical participants a standard 95 Hours

of Service per semi-monthly pay period regardless of the actual hours worked.  Under

“the 95 Hour Rule”, as it has been termed, defendants would no longer credit overtime

hours towards Vesting Service as demanded by the terms of the 1976 Plan.  Defendants

did not notify participants, or to plaintiffs’ knowledge the Department of Labor, of the

intended amendment.  Under ERISA § 204(h) a qualified plan may not be amended so as

to provide for a significant reduction in the rate of benefit accrual unless the plan

administrator provides notice to each applicable individual.  Furthermore, an amendment

that reduces and/or eliminates accrued credited service violates ERISA § 204(g).

Production at the Sand Mountain Plant 

The Sand Mountain plant was a continuous operation plant producing nylon and

polyester 24 hours a day seven days a week in 1972.  During its first few years of

operation the Sand Mountain plant operated on a rotating shift schedule of seven

continuous days on first shift (eight a.m. to four p.m.), seven continuous days on second

shift (four p.m. to midnight), seven continuous days on third shift (midnight until eight

a.m.) followed by seven days on first shift etc.  Shift workers received two days off

between each seven day rotation.  The standard rotating shift schedule required non-

exempt production level employees to work 254 regular eight hour days per calendar

year.3  The rotating shift schedule also included mandatory overtime.  Sundays on first

Case 4:06-cv-01564-RDP     Document 20     Filed 10/25/2006     Page 4 of 25




5

shift, thirteen per year, were considered mandatory overtime.  Additionally, scheduled

holiday work was considered mandatory overtime.  Employees at the Sand Mountain

plant received nine paid holidays per year including New Years Day, Good Friday,

Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Friday after

Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve and Christmas Day.  Nevertheless, production level non-

exempt employees were required to work, as mandatory overtime, any holiday that fell

within their normal schedule.  Shift workers worked six of the nine paid holidays per

year.  Non-exempt production level employees working the rotating shift schedule

worked 273 days per calendar year including 19 eight hour shifts on mandatory overtime. 

In lieu of Holiday pay non-exempt production level employees were supposedly given

comparable time off for working required overtime on holidays.  All employees at the

Sand Mountain plant were entitled to ten days of paid vacation per calendar year, five

sick leave days per year, and three personal leave days.

In 1972 the general policy at the Sand Mountain plant was to encourage non-

exempt production level employees to work as much overtime as possible.  Plaintiffs and

other non-exempts worked substantial amounts of voluntary overtime in 1972 in addition

to mandatory overtime.   

Liability

In a related case in the Northern District of Alabama in the Middle Division,

Gilley v. Monsanto Co., Inc. et al. CV-04-PT-0562-M now on appeal at the Eleventh

Circuit, # 06-12117-EE, the Honorable Robert B. Propst heard the issue central to the

instant case.  In Gilley, as here, the issue was whether plaintiff could prove under the

relevant terms of the plans in place during his tenure with Monsanto that he had
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4 Interestingly, this is the exact amount of Vesting Service that the administrator
calculated for Mr. Gilley even though Mr. Gilley worked at least a month longer than Mr.
Heptinstall.
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sufficient Hours of Service due to the amount of overtime he worked in 1972 to entitle

him to ten years of Vesting Service.  Judge Propst, applying a heightened arbitrary and

capricious standard of review as a result of the decision makers’ conflict of interest,

found that the 95 Hour Rule was not applicable to a 1972 calculation.  The court stated

that generally, “later amendments to the Plan should not have an effect on the 1972

calculations if they impact adversely on plaintiff’s entitlement.”  Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law (“FOF”) at p. 2.  Based on a standard formula using total

compensation, the court found that plaintiff should have been credited with a minimum

of 1000 Hours of Service in calendar year 1972 under the 1976 Plan entitling him to his

pension benefit. Id.  Similarly, plaintiffs here using the same formula are entitled to 1000

Hours of Service for calendar year 1972 and ten years of Vesting Service entitling them

individually to their pension benefits. 

Mr. Heptinstall’s Inquiry into Retirement Benefits

Plaintiff, Bob Heptinstall, inquired about his vested benefit over the telephone

with a representative of defendants Pharmacia/Monsanto.  On or about February 12,

2004, Bob Heptinstall was notified by a letter from defendant Monsanto that he did not

meet the necessary service requirements to for a vested benefit because he had accrued

only 9.685 years of Vesting Service.4  In its February 12, 2004, letter Monsanto failed to

provided proper notice of the reason for the decision and failed to give notice of the

opportunity for a full and fair review as required by ERISA § 503(1) & (2).  On or about

January 23, 2006, Bob Heptinstall filed a request for review of Monsanto’s denial of his

rightful pension benefit with the defendant Monsanto Employees Benefits Plans

Case 4:06-cv-01564-RDP     Document 20     Filed 10/25/2006     Page 6 of 25




7

Committee (the “Benefits Committee”).  The Benefits Committee by letter dated March

10, 2006, explained that the Monsanto administrator calculated Bob Heptinstall’s Vesting

Service according to the “95 Hour Rule” as follows:

Hire date August 30, 1972
Termination from layoff March 31, 1982
Vesting Service 1972 0.411 years (9 x 95 =855/2080)
Vesting Service 1973-1981 9.000 years
Vesting Service 1982 0.274 years
Total Vesting Service 9.685 years

The Secretary of the Benefits Committee recalculated Bob Heptinstall’s Vesting Service

as follows:

Hire date August 30, 1972
Layoff date February 27, 1981
Termination from layoff January 1, 1982
Vesting Service 1972 0.411 years (9 X 95 =855/2080)
Vesting Service 1973-1981 9.0     years
Vesting Service 1982 0.046 years 

(Based on January 1, 1982 
termination date)

Total Vesting Service 9.457 years

As a result of the administrator’s decision to recalculate plaintiff Bob Heptinstall’s hours

of service for 1972 according to the 95 Hour Rule, the Benefits Committee denied him

accrued benefits and the correct amount of Vesting Service and found that he was not a

participant entitled to deferred compensation under the Plan.  

In support of his administrative review Bob Heptinstall submitted an outline of

his service accrued under the 1976 Plan and the “1000 Hour Rule,” a certified copy of his

Social Security earnings for calendar year 1972, a sworn affidavit stating his base pay,

and a record of all hours worked on the B Shift for calendar year 1972.  The Benefits

Committee on review found that Bob Heptinstall’s termination date was actually

November 1, 1982, rather than January 1, 1982, as previously indicated by the Secretary,
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two weeks before the starting date for Mr. Heptinstall.  
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but otherwise upheld the administrator’s decision.  The Benefits Committee rejected the

assertion that Bob Heptinstall accrued credited service for 1972 under the “1000 Hour

Rule” or the 1976 Plan maintaining that the Department of Labor allowed the use of any

equivalency chosen by the administrator.  The Benefits Committee specifically rejected

Bob Heptinstall’s sworn statement that he had over 1000 Hours of Service in 1972 based

on earnings reported to the Social Security Administration by defendant Monsanto.  

Mr. Collins and Mr. Sims Inquiry into Retirement Benefits

Plaintiff, Larry Collins, will be eligible for early retirement at fifty five years of

age on June 23, 2008.  Larry Collins inquired about his deferred vested benefit over the

telephone with a representative of defendants Pharmacia/Monsanto.  On or about August

25, 2004, plaintiff, Larry Collins, was notified by a letter from defendant Monsanto that

he did not meet the necessary service requirements to receive a deferred vested benefit

because he accrued only 9.685 years of vesting service.5  Monsanto failed to give Mr.

Collins a proper explanation for its decision and failed to give notice of the opportunity

for a full and fair review as required by ERISA § 503(1) & (2).   

Plaintiff, Wendell Sims, will be eligible for early retirement at fifty five years of

age on August 16, 2009.  Mr. Sims inquired about his retirement benefits via a website

maintained by Fidelity, Incorporated (“Fidelity”), Monsanto’s service center for the Plan. 

A review of Fidelity’s website indicates that defendants do not consider plaintiff Wendell

Sims to be a participant in the Plan.  Plaintiffs, Larry Collins and Wendell Sims, assert

that it would be futile to submit their claims for review in light of defendants’ consistent

position that they can employ the “95 Hour Rule,” or any other equivalency under
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ERISA, to recalculate accrued benefits and Hours of Service for 1972 without notice to

participants. Powell v. A.T. & T. Communications, Inc., 938 F.2d 823, 825 (7th Cir.

1991)(District court has discretion to require no exhaustion by anyone in light ERISA’s

lack of exhaustion requirements); In re Household International Tax Reduction Plan, No.

06-8001 (7th Cir. March 20, 2006)(unnamed class members in an ERISA class action

need not exhaust their plan remedies as a condition of being allowed to be members of

the class).

Ten Years of Vesting Service

Plaintiffs have ten full years of Vesting Service under the Plan if defendants are enjoined

from using the 95 Hour Rule to retroactively reduce accrued credited service under the

Plan in violation of ERISA § 204(g), § 510, § 404.  Under the 1976 Plan an employee

with a minimum of 1000 Hours of Service in any Plan year including years of service

under prior plans is credited with one full year of Vesting Service.  Plaintiffs are entitled

to one year of Vesting Service for the calendar year (Plan Year) 1972.  Plaintiffs are

entitled to eight years of Vesting Service from January 1, 1973 through December 31,

1980.  Under the 1976 Plan an employee is entitled to receive credited service for an

absence for 12 months as a result of a layoff.  Because plaintiffs’ termination was the

result of a layoff they are entitled to credit for Vesting Service from the date of

termination until 12 months thereafter.  Accordingly, plaintiffs are entitled to a full year

of Vesting Service for the period January 1, 1981 through December 31, 1981.  Plaintiffs

are entitled to a minimum of four (4) semi-monthly payroll periods of credited Vesting

Service for January 1, 1982 through February 27, 1982 for a total of ten plus years of
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service.6  Under the 1976 Plan participants with ten years of Vesting Service are entitled

to a pension benefit.  Plaintiffs at the time of their discharge were rightfully entitled to

their separated deferred vested pension benefit under the Plan that was in the possession

and control of defendants.  

The 1976 Plan was amended, restated and continued as the “1981 Monsanto

Company Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan,” the “1981 Plan,” after plaintiffs and other

non-exempt employees working at the Sand Mountain plant were placed on layoff status. 

Plaintiffs were never given notice of the amendment, restatement, and continuation of the

1976 Plan as required by ERISA § 204(h).  Thus, the 95 Hour Rule cannot be utilized in

any case to recalculate participants’ credited service because they were never given

notice of the amendment of the Plan to include this equivalency. Plaintiffs aver that

defendants are revisiting eligibility determinations for non-exempt production level

employees of the Sand Mountain plant and intentionally denying them their deferred

vested benefits in violation of ERISA’s mandates by applying the “95 Hour Rule,” a later

amendment to the Plan of which plaintiffs had no notice.

Class Claims

The amended complaint filed in the present action consists of six counts under

ERISA for defendants’ violation of Sections, 204(g), 204(h), 510 and 404.  ERISA is a

complex and reticulated statute and for that reason plaintiffs’ claims are intertwined and

overlap.  In Count Six plaintiffs aver that all their claims contained in Counts One, Two,

Three, and Four are suitable for class action certification.  The putative class is defined

as:   
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All participants of the 1976 Monsanto Company Salaried Employes’
Pension Plan, excluding the defendants, both active or retired, or
their beneficiaries or estates that had, have, or will have their
credited service, based on “Hours of Service” as that phrase is
defined by the terms of the 1976 Plan, reduced by the retroactive
application of the 95 Hour Rule causing a concomitant reduction in
their accrued benefit.  

ARGUMENT

Prerequisites for Certification

Class certification is governed by Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23 Subsection (a) provides:

One or more members of a class may sue or be sued as
representative parties on behalf of all only if (1) the class is so
numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable, (2) there are
questions of law or fact common to the class, (3) the claims or
defenses of the representative parties are typical of the claims or
defenses of the class, and (4) the representative parties will fairly
and adequately protect the interests of the class. 

Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23(a).  The four requirements of Rule 23(a) are commonly referred

to as "the prerequisites of numerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequacy of

representation." General Tel. Co. of the Northwest, Inc. v. E.E.O.C., 446 U.S. 318, 330,

100 S.Ct. 1698, 1706, 64 L.Ed.2d 319 (1980).  Plaintiffs as the parties seeking class

certification have the burden of proving the prerequisites.  Hudson v. Delta Air Lines,

Inc., 90 F.3d 451, 456 (11th Cir.1996); Gilchrist v. Bolger, 733 F.2d 1551, 1555 (11th

Cir.1984).  In addition to the prerequisites under Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23(a), Fed. R. Civ.

P. Rule 23(b) provides that a class must fall into one of the three following categories: 

(1) the prosecution of separate actions by or against individual
members of the class would create a risk of (A) inconsistent or
varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the
class which would establish incompatible standards of conduct for
the party opposing the class, or (B) adjudications with respect to
individual members of the class which would as a practical matter
be dispositive of the interests of the other members not a parties to
the adjudications or substantially impair or impede their ability to

Case 4:06-cv-01564-RDP     Document 20     Filed 10/25/2006     Page 11 of 25




12

protect their interests; or (2) the party opposing the class has acted
or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class,
thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding
declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole; or (3) the
court finds that the questions of law or fact common to the members
of the class predominate over any questions affecting only
individual members, and that a class action is superior to other
available methods for fair and efficient adjudication of the
controversy.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23(b).

Numerosity

The first prerequisite under Rule 23(a), “numerosity,” has been satisfied because

the putative class is too large to make joinder practical.  Presumptively the benchmark, in

regards to whether the class members are too numerous for joinder to be practicable, is

forty (40) persons.  Korn v. Franchard Corp., 456 F.2d 1206, 1209 (2d Cir.1972)

(vacating district court denial of class certification on the ground that plaintiffs’ claims

were not typical of those of the class and the class was not sufficiently numerous). 

Plaintiffs need not set forth the exact number of class members to satisfy the numerosity

requirement.  Stewart v. Abraham, 275 F.3d 220, 226-227 (3d Cir.2001) (explaining that

"generally if the named plaintiff demonstrates that the potential number of plaintiffs

exceed 40, the first prong of Rule 23(a) has been met.").  According to the Eleventh

Circuit “a plaintiff need not show the precise number of members in the class . . . [and if]

the numerosity question is a close one, a balance should be struck in favor of a finding of

numerosity, since the court has the option to decertify pursuant to Rule 23(c)(1) ."

Groover v. Michelin North America, Inc. 187 F.R.D. 662 (M. D. Ala. 1999) citing Evans

v. U.S. Pipe & Foundry Co., 696 F.2d 925, 930 (11th Cir.1983) (citations omitted); Cliff

v. Paycom Gen. Am. Credits, Inc., 363 F.3d 1113 (11th Cir. 2004) (vacating the denial of
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certification based on the size of the putative class); Robidoux v. Celani, 987 F.2d 931

(2nd Cir. 1993) (reversing the district court’s denial of class certification of a class of

individuals who’s applications for public assistance had been delayed when plaintiff

named only three currently affected members of the class but speculated that a potential

large number of individuals had been affected).  

Plaintiffs, as is probably the case with other similarly situated participants, have

not yet reached retirement age.  Notwithstanding, plaintiffs, believing they were entitled

to a deferred pension benefit from Monsanto, made inquiries into the availability of

benefits.  In 1972, when the Sand Mountain plant opened, most production level non-

exempt positions, entry level positions, at the Sand Mountain plant were filled primarily

by recent high school graduates.  Given that most of these employees were between the

ages of 18 and 30 in 1972 they are only now reaching retirement age.  Accordingly,

because many of these non-exempt employees have not yet obtained retirement age they

may not be aware that their pension benefits are in jeopardy.  Most Monsanto employees

are participants in the Monsanto Salaried Employees Pension Plan, the Plan.7  In any

given year between 1971 and 1982, Monsanto had on average 59,769 employees.8  In

1981, the year the Sand Mountain plant closed there were 20,178 participants in the Plan,

11,370 fully vested and 8,808 non-vested.9  In 1980, just prior to the plant’s closure, there

were approximately 880 employees working at the Sand Mountain facility and nearly all

were participants in the Plan.10  Logically the number of participants that have been or
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will be affected by the defendants continued use of the 95 Hour Rule to recalculate

Vesting Service is at least 40.  

Commonality

The prerequisites of “commonality” and “typicality” tend to merge. The Supreme

Court stated in General Telephone Co. of Southwest v. Falcon, 457 U.S. 147, 157 (1982):

 

The commonality and typicality requirements of Rule 23(a) tend to
merge. Both serve as guideposts for determining whether under the
particular circumstances maintenance of a class action is economical
and whether the named plaintiff's claim and the class claims are so
interrelated that the interests of the class members will be fairly and
adequately protected in their absence. Those requirements therefore
also tend to merge with the adequacy-of-representation requirement,
although the latter requirement also raises concerns about the
competency of class counsel and conflicts of interest. 

General Telephone at 157 n. 13; see also  Appleyard v. Wallace, 754 F.2d 955, 958 (11th

Cir.1985).  “Commonality” looks to the issue of whether there are questions of law or

fact common to the class.  Commonality is not a difficult requirement to meet and is

generally satisfied if at least one issue's resolution will affect all or a significant number

of class members.  This prerequisite to certification will not be defeated simply because

some plaintiffs have different claims or other claims require some individualized analysis

such as exhaustion if there is a sufficient nexus between the legal claims of the various

class members and the class as a whole.  Prado-Steiman v. Bush, 221 F.3d 1266, 1278-79

(11th Cir.2000); Jenkins v. Raymork Indus., 782 F.2d 468 (5th Cir. 1986).  The legal

issues common to all named plaintiffs and similarly situated class participants is the

defendants’ violation of ERISA’s mandates under Sections 204(h), 204(g), 404 and 510,

which provide the necessary link between the name plaintiffs’ claims and the class as a
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whole.  Washington v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 959 F.2d 1566, 1569 (11th

Cir.1992).  Thus, plaintiffs have shown that there are common issues of law.  

Rule 23(a)(1) does not demand that there be common issues of law and fact, but

rather law or fact.  Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23(a)(1).  Nevertheless, plaintiffs can show that

there are common issues of fact as well.  The only factual issue to be resolved is whether

plaintiffs and other similarly situated participants had sufficient Hours of Service in 1972

under the 1000 Hour Rule of the 1976 Plan to accrue a year of credited service entitling

them to their rightful deferred compensation.  This can be determined by applying a

standard formula to calculate total Hours of Service based on total compensation divided

by yearly salary times the numbers of hours for which non-exempts were compensated

both directly and indirectly in a standard work year.11  See Pickett v. IBP, Inc., No. 96-A-

1103-N, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22453, at *35 (M.D. Ala. Dec. 26, 2001) ("[I]f

damages12 can be computed using 'statistical techniques, the existence of individualized

damage claims does not pose a barrier to certification.'" (quoting Moore's Federal

Practice § 23.49[5][b])). 

Typicality

The Eleventh Circuit has recognized that to establish typicality there must be a

nexus between the class representatives' claims or defenses and the common questions of

fact or law which unite the class. See Kornberg v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc., 741 F.2d

1332 (11th Cir.1984).  In the present case, there are no issues that the defense can raise to
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destroy typicality.  The class has or will suffer a loss of accrued benefits as a

consequence of the defendants recalculating Hours of Service under the 95 Hour Rule. 

In order to award the correct amount of accrued credited service to each member of the

class, total Hours of Service for any partial year of service may be calculated based on

the established standard formula,13 a process that will be substantially the same for the

entire class.  When legal responsibility can be determined on a class-wide basis

individualized issues should not preclude class determination.14  Kirkpatrick v. J.C.

Bradford & Co., 827 F.2d 718, 725 (11th Cir. 1987); Klay  v. Humana Inc., 382 F.3d

1241 (11th Cir. 2004) (certifying a class action over concerns of individualized issues

such as damages calculations holding that rarely, if ever, do cases come along that strain

judicial resources to the point that individualized calculations of damages would form a

ground for denying a class citing Allapattah Servs. v. Exxon Corp., 333 F.3d 1248, 1261

(11th Cir. 2003) ), reh'g en banc denied, 362 F.3d 739 (11th Cir. 2004); see, e.g., In re

Tri-State Crematory Litig., 215 F.R.D. 660, 692 n.20 (N.D. Ga. 2003); Int’l Mass Retail

v. Visa, No. 00-7699 (2nd Cir. 10/17/2002); Bertulli v. Indep. Ass'n of Cont'l Pilots, 242

F.3d 290, 298 (5th Cir. 2001) (affirming district court's determination that common

issues predominated because "[a]lthough calculating damages will require some

individualized determinations, it appears that virtually every issue prior to damages is a

common issue"); Gunnells v. Healthplan Services, Inc., No. 01-2419 (4th

Cir.10/30/2003) (holding that individualized inquiry into damages claims does not defeat

the class action because common issues of liability predominate); Gold Strike Stamp Co.
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v. Christensen, 436 F.2d 791, 796, 798 (10th Cir. 1970) (affirming district court's

determination that common issues predominated in an antitrust suit "where the question

of basic liability can be established readily by common issues" and stating that "[t]he fact

that there may have to be individual examinations on the issue of damages has never

been held, however, a bar to class actions"); Blackie v. Barrack, 524 F.2d 891, 905 (9th

Cir. 1975) ("The amount of damages is invariably an individual question and does not

defeat class action treatment."); Parker v. Time Warner Entm’t, No. 01-9069 (2nd Cir.

6/02/2003) (reversing grant of defendants' motion to deny, as a matter of law, class

certification on the basis of commonality before discovery of the class issue in a national

class action seeking injunctive relief and statutory damages under the Cable

Communications Policy Act of 1984, 47 U.S.C. § 551); Wagner v. The Nutrasweet Co.,

No. 95-3315 (7th Cir. 9/05/1996); Robinson v. Metro-North Commuter, No. 00-9417

(2nd Cir. 10/09/2001) (reversing lower court’s denial of class certification on plaintiff’s

disparate impact claim under Rule 23(b)(2)) and directing district court to revisit class

certification on plaintiff’s pattern-and-practice claim); Roper v. Consurve, Inc., 578 F.2d

1106, 1112 (5th Cir. 1978) ("While it may be necessary to make individual fact

determinations with respect to charges, if that question is reached, these will depend on

objective criteria that can be organized by a computer, perhaps with some clerical

assistance. It will not be necessary to hear evidence on each claim."); In re Terazosin

Hydrochloride Antitrust Litig., 203 F.R.D. 551, 559 (S.D. Fla. 2001) (upholding class

certification where the plaintiffs offered an "algebraic formula for the computation of

class members' overcharge damages" despite the fact that "the jury will also have to

consider some individualized evidence in rendering individual damage calculations"); but
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see Windham v. Am. Brands, Inc., 565 F.2d 59, 70 (4th Cir. 1977) (upholding district

court’s denial of class where as a practical matter the court could not come up with a

damage formula for determining individual damages finding that it would be judicially

taxing).  The prerequisites of “commonality” and “typicality” have been met in the

present case.

Adequacy of Representation

The last prerequisite under Rule 23(a) is “adequacy” of representation.  To meet

the requirement of “adequacy,” plaintiffs as class representatives must show that there is

no conflict of interest that exists with the other class members and that they have retained

competent counsel.  In other words, class members must not have interests that are

antagonistic to one another, and class counsel must be qualified, experienced and

generally able to conduct the litigation.  Plaintiffs in the instant care are adequate

representatives because their interests and the interest of the class as a whole are not

antagonistic.  Plaintiffs, as are all putative class members, are salaried non-exempt

participants of the Monsanto Salaried Employe Pension Plan that accrued credited

service attributable to overtime until defendants in violation of ERISA decided

otherwise.  While not all participants of the Plan are salaried non-exempt employees,

some participants are salaried exempt, this is no bar to class certification.  “Adequacy of

representation,” as well as commonality and typicality, does not call for all Plan

participants to share common interests, but rather all class members must share common

interests with plaintiffs.  The first prong of the “adequacy” requirement has been met.

The second prong of this prerequisite is adequacy of counsel.  This is the second

case brought by plaintiffs’ counsel on behalf of a putative class of production level non-
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exempt employees that have been or will be denied their pensions.  Even though class

certification was denied in the related case of Gilley v. Monsanto Co., Inc. et al.,

plaintiffs’ counsel successful prosecuted Mr. Gilley’s individual claim for a pension and

continues to defend the judgment on appeal.  Plaintiffs and their counsel are committed

to vigorously prosecuting their claims with an eye towards protecting the interests of the

class as a whole.  Additionally, counsel perceives herself as competent, qualified and

generally capable of conducting this litigation.  Plaintiffs assert that the second

requirement of “adequacy” has been satisfied.”     

Requirements Under Rule 23(b)(1)

In addition to satisfying the threshold requirements of Rule 23(a), a class action

may be maintained only if it qualifies under at least one of the categories provided in

Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23(b). See Amchem Prods., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 613-16,

117 S.Ct. 2231, 138 L.Ed.2d 689 (1997); Rutstein v. Avis Rent-A-Car Sys., Inc., 211 F.3d

1228 (11th Cir.2000) , cert. denied sub nom. Zeirei Agudath Israel Bookstore v. Avis

Rent-A-Car Sys., Inc., 532 U.S. 919, 121 S.Ct. 1354, 149 L.Ed.2d 285 (2001).  A class

action under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) is appropriate where there is a risk of inconsistent or

varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the class placing the party

opposing class certification in a quandary as to how to treat future claimants.  Under Rule

23(b)(1)(B) a class action is appropriate where as a practical matter there is a possibility

that individual class members are or may be precluded from bringing individual actions

because a single individual adjudication would be dispositive of other members’ interests

or impede the other members ability to protect their interest such as when a defendant is

obligated to treat class members alike.  The two situations listed under Rule 23(b)(1) are
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not mutually exclusive but rather represent a balance between competing interests in

maintaining an action as a class action.  Here class certification is particularly appropriate

as to Rule 23(b)(1) because both situations apply.  

First, defendants have been known to complain about “inconsistent or varying

adjudications” regarding the Plan in question.  Defendants, in their principal brief on

appeal in Gilley v. Monsanto Co., Inc. et al., complained that the district court in that

case improperly applied a heightened standard of review to the benefit decision in

question because a district court in West Virginia had already held “that Monsanto’s Plan

Committee was not acting under a conflict of interest with regard to the same Plan at

issue [] because the Plan is a defined benefit plan funded by a trust.”  See Boggess v.

Monsanto Co., 2003 WL 715985, at *3 (S.D. W.Va. Feb. 10, 2003).     

Second, any decision on the merits of plaintiffs’ claims obligate defendants to

treat all class members alike via their treatment of the Plan itself.  In other words, any

adjudication on the issues raised here would be determinative of all class members’

interests.  The courts have held ERISA actions are most suitable for class action

certification for exactly this reason.  Coan v. Kaufman, ___ F.3d ____, * 8-10, 2006 WL

2075129 (2nd Cir. (Conn.)) (discussing the appropriateness of bringing class actions in

ERISA benefits cases).  Adjudication on the merits of plaintiffs’ claims would as a matter

of law apply to all similarly situated participants of the Plan as a whole because

defendants could collaterally estop any other similarly situated participant from

relitigating the issues raised in the instant case.  Parklane Hosiery Co., Inc. v. Shore, 439

U.S. 322 (1979) (collateral estoppel raised as a defense in a derivative action). 

Furthermore, claims brought under ERISA have been compared to derivative actions
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under Rule 23.1 and claims brought on behalf of the plan are typically certified under

Rule 23(b)(1) or (2) . Coan,  at * 8-10; Piazza v. EBSCO Indus., Inc., 273 F.3d 1341,

1352 (11th Cir.2001). 

Requirements Under Rule 23(b)(2)

Under Rule 23(b)(2), a class is certifiable if the defendant has acted or refused to

act on grounds generally applicable to the class, "thereby making appropriate final

injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole"

appropriate.  Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 23(b)(2).  Courts in this circuit have interpreted the

term "generally applicable" to mean that the party opposing the class "has acted in a

consistent manner towards members of the class so that [their] actions may be viewed as

part of a pattern of activity, or to establish a regulatory scheme, to all members."

Leszczynski v. Allianz Ins., 176 F.R.D. 659, 673 (S.D. Fla.1997).  Plaintiffs here, as did

Mr. Gilley earlier, have averred that the defendants are revisiting eligibility decisions for

certain low level participants of the putative class in order to diminish the need for

periodic funding of the Plan by the plan sponsor.  A review of the facts shows that this is

true.  Defendants, even after a court of proper jurisdiction declared that the 95 Hour Rule

could no longer be used to recalculate accrued credited service under the 1976 Plan,

recalculated Mr. Heptinstall’s accrued credited service under the 1976 Plan and

determined that he was not vested.  Moreover, defendants have consistently declared that

ERISA allows them to choose this equivalency or any equivalency in the plan sponsor’s

interest and even apply it retroactively regardless of whether it is against the interest of

the putative class.15  
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Defendants have proven that unless enjoined they will continue to recalculate

Hours of Service under the 95 Hour Rule in violation of ERISA § 204(g), and continue to

discriminate against non-exempt participants in violation ERISA § 510 and § 404

because denying benefits to the lower tier of the Plan is in the sponsor’s profit interest. 

Accordingly, the requirements for class certification under Rule 23(b)(2) have been met

because the court, through a single injunction or declaration, can redress ‘group, as

opposed to individual, injuries.’  

Requirements Under Rule 23(b)(3)

Class certification under Rule 23(b)(3) is appropriate if certification under Rule

23(b)(1) & (2) is inappropriate and questions of law or fact predominate over questions

affecting individual class members and a class action would be superior in fairness and

efficiency in relation to other methods of adjudication.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).  A

district court in the Fifth Circuit stated that “[t]his class action mechanism is intended for

use when class certification is convenient and desirable but the classes cannot qualify for

(b)(1) or (b)(2) certification.  Such cases include large-scale, complex litigation for

money damages.”  In re Electronic Data Syst. Corp., 2004 WL 2616225 (E. D. Tex. Nov.

8, 2001) citing Allison v. Citgo Petroleum Corp.,, 151 F.3d 402, 414 (5th Cir.1998).  

Plaintiffs assert that certification under both Rule 23(b)(1) & (b)(2) is appropriate

in the instant case, and thus the Court need not reach the question of whether certification

under Rule 23(b)(3) is necessary.  Nevertheless, should the Court be so inclined, the

central inquiry under Rule 23(b)(3) is: (A) the class members’ interest in individually

controlling their separate actions, (B) the extent and nature of existing litigation by class

members concerning the same claims, (C) the desirability of concentrating the litigation

Case 4:06-cv-01564-RDP     Document 20     Filed 10/25/2006     Page 22 of 25




16 Even non-exempt participants that defendants now readily admit are vested and entitled
to a pension have received no documentation regarding their pensions from the
defendants since shortly after the Sand Mountain plant closed.

23

in the particular forum, and (D) the likely difficulties of managing a class action. 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3).  Classes certified under Rule 23(b)(3) require notice to the

potential class members and the opportunity to opt out of the class. Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule

23(c)(2)(B).   

The primary aspect of certification under (b)(3) that is appealing in the instant

case is that certification would promote the interest of individual class members and

provide notice to the putative class.  Defendants, in the twenty plus ensuing years since

the Sand Mountain plant closed, have failed to notify low level participants about their

pension benefits 16 and failed to notify participants of their rights even when inquiries

have been made.  For this reason many participants have failed or will fail to pursue their

individual claims for benefits particularly in light of the amount of the benefit and the

difficulty in pursuing their individual claims. Thus, notice to participants advising them

of their rights under ERISA and the possibility of receiving their rightful pensions would

be particularly appropriate in the instant case.  Accordingly, should the Court be so

inclined, plaintiffs’ believe that their claims under Count One for a declaration of a right

to benefits or benefits under Section 502(a)(3) and/or Section 502(a)(1)(B) could be

certified under Rule 23(b)(3).  Furthermore, for the reasons discussed herein not only is a

class action superior in the instant case, it is the only type of action that will fairly

adjudicate plaintiffs’ claims in light of the windfall that defendants have or will receive

by retaining funds rightfully belonging to class participants held in trust if certification is

denied.
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CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of other similarly situated participants and

the Plan, request that the court certify this suit as a class action pursuant to Rule 23(a) of

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure under either Rule 23(b)(1), 23(b)(2), and/or if

necessary under Rule 23(b)(3). 

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Elisa Smith Rives
Elisa Smith Rives 
Attorney for plaintiffs 
ASB # -9351-E61R

OF COUNSEL:
Elisa S. Rives, LLC
2208 Ringold Street, Ste 103
Guntersville, AL 35976
Tel:  (256) 582-3559
Fax: (256) 582-3559
Cell: (256) 558-4626

Case 4:06-cv-01564-RDP     Document 20     Filed 10/25/2006     Page 24 of 25




25

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was

served by the Court’s electronic filing system on the following counsel of record, this

23rd day of October, 2006, and a copy was delivered to the Court by U. S. mail postage

prepaid on the same date.
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Donald R. James
Joel E. Dillard
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BRYAN CAVE, LLP
Jeffery S. Russell
211 N. Broadway
Suite 3600
St. Louis, MO 63102
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Elisa Smith Rives 
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